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CHURCH OFFICERS TO 1911

Although the words ‘chapel keeper’, ‘caretaker’ and ‘church officer’ are used interchangeably in many places, the correct title in Scotland is said to be ‘church officer’ and in England, it is ‘caretaker’; in the United States, it is ‘custodian’.
 The earliest description in Charlotte Chapel was ‘chapel keeper’, and this was still in use, sometimes, in 1912. 

Before 1877

The first Charlotte Chapel was a two-storey building that seated 750 in the main area and gallery, with housing for the caretaker and others underneath. For what little we know about the accommodation below street level, see ‘Charlotte Chapel as an Episcopal Church’, on the website, footnote 1.
The first known about an individual caretaker (or she might have been a daughter of the caretaker) is Margaret McLeod, whose address, when she was baptised in February 1843, is given in the Church Register as ‘Rose Street Chapel’. Since, however, the Register starts with those who were still alive in 1851 and who adhered to Alfred Thomas at the disruption, there may have been others before her. It seems, however, that few of the Chapel Keepers were in membership.  Margaret McLeod went to Canada at an unspecified date.

The names of three ‘Elders’ then feature in the Church Register, but their relationships are not clear. A Mrs Elder joined in October 1869, with the address 140 Rose Street (the Chapel was 204 and the caretaker was 208). Was she married to a man who was baptised when they moved, as a couple, to become the caretakers? Entry 325 in the Church Register is Alexander Elder, whose address, at his baptism on 11 March 1874 was ‘Charlotte Chapel House’. He died in 1878. A Sarah Elder was baptized, and joined the Chapel, on 8 April 1874 (entry 338); her address was also ‘Charlotte Chapel House’, If the first Elder was Alexander’s wife, this could be their daughter (more details below). 

1877

The deacons in 1877 were to manage the property and all finance except the Fellowship Fund, to appoint the Church Treasurer, Precentor, Chapel Keeper and to fix their salaries. The precentor and the caretaker were each paid £10 per year, with the caretaker also receiving free accommodation under the Chapel, free coal and gas. 

Alexander Elder died in 1878 but Mrs Elder stayed on until June 1881, when she moved from the house under the Chapel ‘to one at some distance from it’. She was the ‘Chapel Keeper’ - perhaps she always had been, not her husband? She asked for permission to continue in office for another year and to have her allowance for gas paid in addition to salary. There is no indication when the original arrangement about free gas was altered, but on 29 April 1880 the deacons ‘increased Mrs. Elder’s allowance to £1 in respect of gas account’, so clearly there was by then a subsidy toward the bill rather than full reimbursement - had someone over-used the gas supply? The deacons postponed consideration of Mrs. Elder’s request while they obtained a report on the ‘house under the Chapel’ from the Officer of Public Health.
 On receipt of it (below), they turned down Mrs. Elder’s request, because they wanted the Chapel Keeper to reside on the premises and they felt that the property could be brought up to habitable standards again. They set about finding a successor, but they agreed to pay Mrs. Elder’s salary up to November.
 

Sarah Elder (? widow or daughter) ‘resigned’ from Chapel membership at a date unspecified, for ‘non-attendance’ (entry 338 in the Church Register).

1881

Two of the deacons had gone with the Sanitary Inspector to the house under the Chapel and reported, before the official report came in, that in its present state the house (208 Rose Street) was uninhabitable. The official report is in the Deacons’ Minutes:

Found the house to be under the level of the Street, and to be very damp, the east wall is quite wet and dampness can felt on the walls at different parts of the house. The ventilation is also defective and one of the apartments is very dark.  There is a W.C. in a cellar with no ventilation.  The place has a damp unwholesome smell and is not in a proper state for human habitation.  There is a room entering from a door further to the west of the building, the walls and ceiling are lined with wood and it has an asphalt floor. I felt no damp smell in this apartment.

This is the first extant reference to other accommodation (‘a room’) under the Chapel, in addition to the caretaker’s flat, but it was not, as far as can be ascertained, used by the Chapel as hall accommodation.

The deacons went to see for themselves and they agreed that while the east side was uninhabitable, they felt that the west side could, with certain alterations, be made habitable and comfortable. In the meantime, the Secretary had been making inquiries and no one in the church wanted the position. The deacons therefore decided to make the caretaker’s job known to members of other Baptist churches in Edinburgh.
 One applicant, not a member, was interviewed but not accepted. The deacons then advertised and got a good response and the Church Secretary brought the applications to the deacons. They went through the list of applicants, but ‘none were considered suitable’.

At this point that the Church Treasurer, Edward Dovey, ‘introduced a likely candidate - Mrs McNab’, who cleaned his Chartered Accountant’s office premises. Two deacons were appointed to meet her, with power to make the appointment if they considered her suitable. After interview, she was appointed on the basis of a wage of £10 per annum, use of the house and free fire and gas.
 A new condition was introduced, that one month’s notice of resignation or dismissal was to be given by either side. She was to start immediately and the necessary repairs and alterations to the Chapel Keeper’s House were set in hand, particularly laying a wooden floor and erecting partitions. Mrs. Elder, who had carried on meantime (it was already the end of November), was compensated by receiving her full salary for the quarter 11 November to 15 February 1882. Mrs. McNab’s husband, Robert, was a coachman, but neither of them ever joined the Chapel as far as records show.

The entire diaconate of twelve men and the pastor was called to a special meeting at the business chambers of the Church Treasurer on 7 January 1882. The pastor presided and the Mr Dovey was asked why he had ‘omitted to state what he knew of the antecedents of Mrs McNab’s husband’. His explanation, that he had no idea that Robert was a ‘returned [? from Australia] convict’, was accepted and the pastor proposed that ‘Having heard Mr Dovey’s statement regarding the new acts relating to the antecedents of Mr McNab, and the whole matter having been considered, the Court is of opinion that it is unnecessary to disturb the appointment of his wife as Chapel Keeper,’ and this was unanimously approved.
 

On 17 December 1885, when Mr Dovey returned to his home in Eildon Street from a children’s party in the Chapel, he found his house in disorder and a number of valuable items missing. At first there was no clue as to who was responsible, but then he noticed a duster in the house, identical to the dusters used in his office.  The police searched the caretakers’ flat in the Chapel and found all the missing items. Mr McNab pleaded guilty only to reset and tried to implicate his brother, then his son and then others, in the burglary. A High Court jury found him guilty of theft and he was sentenced to ten years’ penal servitude.

Mrs McNab’s employment was terminated immediately. The deacons met on 30th December 1885 and ‘unanimously agreed to record their sympathy with Mrs McNab, Chapel Keeper, in her present painful position and regret that in the interests of the Church they consider it necessary to advise that she tender her resignation to the Deacons.’ The Secretary was asked ‘to communicate this decision in a fitting manner to Mrs McNab’ and to look out for a successor.
 He had the same difficulty in 1886 as he had had in 1881, in that no suitable successor could be found in the Chapel ‘or any of the Sister Churches’, so the position was advertised and several applications received.

1886

A Mrs Charles, formerly a member of the Chapel, was strongly preferred and offered the position on the same terms as her predecessor - no annual increase for inflation in those days - salary of £10 per annum with free house, coal and gas, with one month’s notice on either side. Her husband is not named as caretaker but he was to be involved in two ways. As soon as they moved in, he was to be supplied by the deacons with wood and other materials in order to carry out various ‘do-it-yourself’ repairs and improvements, not least to exclude draughts. In the long term, he was to give his wife ‘what assistance she may require, as for instance in the management of the heating apparatus, and that you will take charge generally of the buildings, the fittings and furniture, and report as to the need of any repairs, etc.’
 He was also authorised to create direct access from the Chapel-Keeper’s house to the Chapel by making a trap door and stair.

In what would be deemed politically incorrect terms today, the formal offer to employ Mrs Charles was addressed by the deacons to her husband, Campbell Charles, advising that his wife was the most suitable candidate and offering her the situation of Chapel Keeper and asking ‘to be informed at once if you accept on behalf of Mrs Charles and yourself’ - the reference to himself because of the ‘understanding’ of what he would contribute. It leaves open the intriguing question as to his contractual position with the Church - his wife was the salaried employee but on the understanding that he would assist her. Common sense no doubt sorted out what could have been an interesting legal minefield as to who was responsible to whom if anything went wrong.

Mrs Charles started on 10th February 1886, and for the first time the duties of the caretaker were spelled out. She was to attend to the general cleaning and heating of the Chapel and Vestries and also of a small hall opposite the Chapel, if the Church was successful in procuring it for Sunday School work and evangelistic meetings - the deacons were negotiating for it, at the time of her appointment. She was to be in attendance at the various services and give such assistance as was required at Social Meetings and the like. She was, retrospectively, paid an additional £1 for the extra work that this involved.
 

1887

While the deacons dealt with all employment matters, the elders became involved in April 1887 when ‘serious charges were made against the character’ of both Mr and Mrs Charles. The position then becomes rather confused, because the pastor and one of the elders went to discuss the charges with the Charles but came back with applications for membership of the church. The elders refused the applications at their meeting on 12th May, but at the Deacons’ Court on 10th May, which the elders attended in the usual way, a letter of resignation was read from Mr Charles ‘on the part of his wife’. The deacons tried unsuccessfully to persuade them to stay for another six months, and their decision to leave immediately may be not unconnected with the refusal of membership. Whatever the full story, they left on 1st June 1887. When the letter of resignation was considered by the deacons, it was mentioned that another couple, Mr and Mrs Macmillan, were known to be willing to take over immediately on the same terms as Mrs Charles.
 They did so on 1 June 1887.

The Macmillans reported that there was a problem of smoke coming into their flat, but they do not feature again in the Minutes until Mr Macmillan wrote a letter of resignation ‘on behalf of Mrs Macmillan’ in February 1889 - they never really sorted out the contractual position, as modern readers would see it, of who was the employee and what was the legal status of the husband. This time the deacons made no attempt to persuade them to stay on, although they did write an appreciative letter of thanks to both of the Macmillans for their services.
 

1889

Two applications were received in March 1889 and a Mrs Wilson was appointed on the same terms. Again the letter is addressed to the husband, inviting acceptance ‘on behalf of Mrs Wilson and yourself’. In a postscript to the letter, the Deacons’ Court Secretary added that a thorough cleaning of the church was required once a year, for which an additional £1 would be paid.  This explains occasional references in earlier Minutes to approval being given for paying ‘the £1’ to the caretaker.

1904

Nothing is known of the caretaking arrangements between March 1889 and May 1903, when the deacons paid the Chapel Keeper a gratuity of £1 for her extra work during a recent Mission. From 1 January 1904 Mrs. Barbara Brown (a new name) received a salary increase to £20 per annum, plus 6/- per baptismal service instead of the existing 5/-, and her son was awarded 6/- per month on the understanding that he assisted his mother with her work as he was doing at present. Mrs. Brown resigned in March 1904 – reason not known. She remained a member until her death at the age of 93 in October 1947, the oldest member at that time and the mother of the long-serving Church Treasurer, William Brown. She had lived through the Kemp years and spoke vividly about them.

1905

With Mrs. Brown’s letter of resignation, the Deacons’ Court Secretary read an application from Daniel Gray, which was accepted. By December of that year, as the work in the Chapel was growing rapidly under Joseph Kemp’s leadership, his salary was increased by £5. With the Revival of the spring of 1905, his work must have multiplied because at 30th June he was given a gratuity of £5, in recognition of the extra work of the previous six months. This was repeated in December 1905 and July 1906.
. In December 1906, he was given 1/- for every conference, to enable him to procure assistance for cleaning, in addition to the 2/6 already allowed.
 
In the summer of 1907, Mr and Mrs Gray were thanked publicly for their work as what was now described as ‘Church Officer’. ‘We do not think that many churches have a better church officer than Charlotte Chapel.’ Mr. Gray and his wife had been very busy, getting the Chapel cleaned for the winter session, which ‘has meant a lot of hard and dirty work’. With an eye to the future, it was reported that the Chapel was once more 'as clean and nice as it is possible for it to be in present circumstances.’

The year 1908 was the most stressful ever, both for the caretakers and for the deacons.
 In December 1907, Mrs Gray was taken to the Edinburgh Royal Infirmary, seriously ill,
 and Daniel Gray advised that he could not continue as chapel-keeper beyond 1 February 1908. His resignation was accepted most reluctantly by the deacons, because he had served the church faithfully and well in this post. They were glowing in their appreciation of Mr and Mrs Gray’s services, gave them a Testimonial and a further £5 in recognition of their extra work during the past year. In a note of appreciation, he was twice referred to as the church ‘beadle’.
The name of a couple was mentioned and they were to be approached to take the position on the same terms as the Grays. However, Joseph Kemp met with Mr Gray and tried to persuade him to remain. On learning this, the deacons agreed to increase his salary to 30 shillings per week, on the basis that Mr Gray would obtain a suitable house as near to the Chapel as possible, and meet the cost of coal and gas, that he would give his whole time to the church, including all cleaning and dusting throughout the year, that he could continue to have assistance for the annual spring cleaning of the church, at the expense of the church, and that all out of pocket expenses would be reimbursed, and that he had two weeks annual holiday with pay.

At the same meeting, the deacons decided, on the advice of Dr Williamson, that the chapel-keeper's house was no longer suitable and that future chapel-keepers should live outside the building. Their accommodation was to be converted into halls for meetings and lavatories.

In view of Mrs Gray’s serious illness, Mr Gray could not be persuaded to continue. The Secretary had advertised in the Scotsman and News, and from the applications the deacons appointed Alexander W. Mitchell, who was to give half of every day to the work of the Chapel at a salary of £1 per week and reimbursement of expenses.  As Mr Mitchell would not get a house in Rose Street for a period of less than one year, the appointment was to be for one year, after which it could be terminated by either side on three months' notice. 

On the afternoon of the day the deacons met to discuss this, Mrs Gray died, 3 February 1908. Her terminal illness had extended over three months, the greater part of which was spent in the Royal Infirmary. She had endeared to herself to the congregation, with her quiet unobtrusive manner and her readiness to help in many unnoticed ways. Mr. Gray died in November 1934.

1908

Within a month, complaints were received about the way Mr Mitchell was discharging his duties and on 6 April the deacons suggested he should resign.  He apparently ignored the suggestion because on 6th July, as the dissatisfaction continued, the Secretary made a further approach, with the inducement of one or two month’s salary.  On 28 September the Secretary reported success and that Mr Hall had taken over, to give his whole time to the Chapel for a salary of £1.2.6. Mr Hall found the work much more than he had anticipated and in November 1908 the deacons increased his salary to 25/- per week, and gave him every Tuesday off, unless there was a special meeting, for which he expressed his thanks.

In February 1911, anticipating the demolition of the Chapel building and the temporary accommodation in the Synod Hall, the caretaker’s engagement as Chapel-keeper was terminated from the end of April.

The new building provided for accommodation for the caretaker on the top floor of the building. The narrative about the role of the Church Officer is continued in the section ‘Church Officers in the new building (1912–2006)’.
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